INFLUENCE OF PLATELET RICH PLASMA ON OSSEOINTEGRATION IN CONTROLLED DIABETIC PATIENTS

Λ.

by

Dr. AAQIL MALIK

Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

April 2008

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the Name of Allah the Beneficent the Merciful

I would like to thank the Almighty for all that he has given me and in making this thesis possible. Thanks to the sacrifices and patience of my parents in raising me.

To my supervisor Dr Ramizu Shaari who has been gentle with me at times when I made mistakes, and taught me clinical skills in implantology. I would like to thank him for his kindness for letting me in on his surgeries.

Thanks to Professor Dr Ab. Rani Samsudin for his fore-thought, insight and unparalleled support. I appreciate not only his contribution to my scientific learning but also to me as a human being, what I have learnt from him I shall hold dear for the rest of my life.

Thanks to Dr Saifulizan Ab. Rahman for his contribution and support on scientific knowledge. Dr Wan Zaripah Wan Bakar and Dr Harmy Yussof for their undying support. A special thanks to Dr Ayub for his statistical analysis.

My thanks to Dr Hashima for providing the clinic where I worked and the USM staff in pedodontics clinic and the klinik pakar perubatan for their excellent work in management of our patients. Especially the dental assistants Eryani,Aina, Kasmini, Huzam, Kaksu, Vini, Eddie and all those who silently contributed to my work.

ii

My thanks to Cik Haizan and Puan Suhaila for taking care of my paper work.

My thanks to our patients who have contributed by participating in this research and have been patient enough to come for recall visits to the clinics.

A warm thanks to my elders, Dr Mubassir, Dr Shamim, Dr Tariq for their support. Thanks to my friends Atif ameen baig, Dr Syed Yusuf, Dr Saifudeen, Dr Galib, Edimansha, Hilmi and Dr Osama for their support, and to all the friends and family that I have not mentioned.

Our research team acknowledges the USM grant for making this project possible, the research platform in PPSG, USM research committees, and ethical committees for their assessment and valuable comments in our project, and Encik Hakim for helping us in the paper work.

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, who I hope someday are proud of me like I am proud of them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
ABSTRAK	xv
ABSTRACT	xvii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Background	1
1.2 Osseointegration as a criterion for implant success	2
1.3 Growth factors as an adjunct to bone healing	3
1.4 A new generation of implants	5
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Historical background of dental implants	7
2.2 Classification of materials and grafts	9
2.3 Biocompatibility of implant materials	10
2.4 Types of implants	12
2.4.1 Subperiosteal implants	13
2.4.2 Transosteal implants	13
2.4.3 Endosseous implants	13
2.4.4 Mini dental implants	15
2.5 Osseointegration	16

2.6 Classification of bone quality	17
2.7 Wound healing in normal patients	18
2.7.1 Primary injury	18
2.7.2 Inflammatory phase	19
2.7.3 Proliferative phase	20
2.7.4 Maturation phase	20
2.8 Bone healing in normal patients:	21
2.8.1 Proliferative phase in bone	21
2.8.2 Wound healing and formation of woven bone (Callus) (2-6 weeks)	22
2.8.3 Lamellar compaction remodeling (6-18 weeks)	23
2.8.4 Maturation and adaptation (18-54 weeks)	24
2.9 Bone diseases and dental implants	24
2.10 Concept of immediate loading	25
2.11 Diabetes mellitus	26
2.11.1 Diabetes facts and figures	27
2.11.2 Diabetes related complications and impairments	27
2.11.3 Diabetes and wound healing	28
2.11.4 Diabetes and bone healing	29
2.11.5 Diabetics and dental implants	31
2.11.6 Prophylactic antibiotics in diabetics	34
2.11.7 Diabetes at present	34
2.12 Platelet rich plasma: PRP	35
2.12.1 Mechanism of function of growth factor in PRP	36
2.12.2 Effects of PRP in osseointegration	37
2.12.3 Applications of PRP	39

2.6 Classification of bone quality	17
2.7 Wound healing in normal patients	18
2.7.1 Primary injury	18
2.7.2 Inflammatory phase	19
2.7.3 Proliferative phase	20
2.7.4 Maturation phase	20
2.8 Bone healing in normal patients:	21
2.8.1 Proliferative phase in bone	21
2.8.2 Wound healing and formation of woven bone (Callus) (2-6 weeks)	22
2.8.3 Lamellar compaction remodeling (6-18 weeks)	23
2.8.4 Maturation and adaptation (18-54 weeks)	24
2.9 Bone diseases and dental implants	24
2.10 Concept of immediate loading	25
2.11 Diabetes mellitus	26
2.11.1 Diabetes facts and figures	27
2.11.2 Diabetes related complications and impairments	27
2.11.3 Diabetes and wound healing	28
2.11.4 Diabetes and bone healing	29
2.11.5 Diabetics and dental implants	31
2.11.6 Prophylactic antibiotics in diabetics	34
2.11.7 Diabetes at present	34
2.12 Platelet rich plasma: PRP	35
2.12.1 Mechanism of function of growth factor in PRP	36
2.12.2 Effects of PRP in osseointegration	37
2.12.3 Applications of PRP	39

2.12.4 Platelets in the platelet rich plasma of diabetic patients	39
2.13 Evaluation of osseointegration	40
2.13.1 Radiographic methods	40
2.13.2 Densitometry using computer based image analysis	40
2.13.3 Temporal digital Subtraction Radiography (SR)	42
2.13.5 Periotest method	43
2.13.4 Resonance frequency analysis (RFA)	43
CHAPTER THREE: STUDY OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESIS	
3.1 General objectives	45
3.2 Specific objectives	45
3.3 Hypothesis	45
CHAPTER FOUR: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
4.1 The Study	46
4.2 The Study design	46
4.3 The Sample	47
4.3.1 Inclusion criteria	47
4.3.2 Exclusion criteria	48
4.4 Sample size determination	50
4.5 Research tools and materials	51
4.5.1 Surgical instruments	51
4.5.2 Mini drive-lock [™] (MDL) implant insertion instruments	52
4.5.2.1 The following instruments were used in the implant placement	52
4.5.3 Mini drive-lock [™] implants	53
4.5.4 Platelet rich plasma (PRP)	53
4.5.4.1 Venepuncture for blood sample	53

4.5.4.2 PRP production	
4.5.4.3 Maintaining the level of state to the man	55
4.5.5 Radiographic equipment	56
	57
4.5.5.1 OPG, periapical and accessory X-ray equipment	57
4.6 Research methodology	59
4.6.1 Diagnostic procedures and records	59
4.6.1.1 Pre-operative radiographs	59
4.6.1.2 Study model and surgical template	60
4.6.1.3 Photographic records	60
4.6.2 Operative procedures	60
4.6.2.1 Pre-implant placement procedures	60
4.6.2.2 Group I implant coated with PRP	61
4.6.2.3 Group II implant without	64
4.6.3 Post operative instructions	64
4.6.4 First post operative review at 1 week	65
4.6.4.1 Implant mobility (IM) test	65
4.6.5 Second post operative review at 3 weeks	66
4.6.6 Third post operative review at 6 weeks	67
4.6.7 Fourth post operative review at 9 weeks and prosthesis issue	68
4.6.7.1 Final prosthesis	68
4.8 Data analysis	69
4.8.1 Patient information	69
4.8.2 Software for analysis	69
4.8.3 Densitometry using VixWin 2000 software	69
4.8.4 Statistical analysis of the data	70

CHAPTER FIVE: RESULTS

5.1 Demographics of the sample	71
5.2 Placement of implants	71
5.3 Placement torque of the implants	71
5.4 Clinical results	72
5.5 Blood glucose levels at completion	73
5.6 Intra-observer reliability	74
5.7 Radiographic results	75
CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION	
6.1 The study design	88
6.2 Minimally invasive flapless mini implants	91
6.3 Platelet rich plasma	93
6.4 Other sources of growth factors	96
6.5 The factor of implant loading	97
6.6 Time period of evaluation	99
6.7 Method of measuring osseointegration of mini implants	100
6.7.1 Resonance frequency analysis	100
6.7.2 Periotest method	101
6.7.3 Temporal digital subtraction	101
6.7.4 Densitometry using computer based image analysis	102
CHAPTER SEVEN: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	
7.1 Summary and conclusion	103
7.2 Limitation of the study	104
7.3 Recommendations for further studies	105

REFERENCES

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A R	Research and ethical approval for the study	120
APPENDIX B I	nstructions for surgical procedures and information sheet	121
APPENDIX C	Consent form for obtaining blood and implant placement	123
APPENDIX B	Instructions and information (Bahasa Malayu)	124
APPENDIX C	Consent form for implants (Bahasa Malayu)	126
	Study sheet for patients records	127
	Academic activities	129

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Classification of transplant and implant materials	10
Table 2.2 Biocompatibility and types of bone response	11
Table 5.1 Torque values of the implants in the maxilla and mandible	72
Table 5.2 Marginal Mean values of PRP and non-PRP implant at	76
preoperative 3, 6 and 9 week intervals	
Table 5.3 Densitometric values of all the teeth in the bone preoperatively	77
Table 5.4 Densitometric values of all the teeth in the bone 3 weeks	78
Table 5.5 Densitometric values of all the teeth in the bone 6 weeks	79
Table 5.6 Densitometric values of all the teeth in the bone 9 weeks	80

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 A demonstration of anchorage capacity of two osseointegrated	8
implants	
Figure 2.2 Normal microstructure of bone with osteocytes seen close to	9
titanium surface demonstrating integration	
Figure 2.3 Types of implants	14
Figure 2.4 Classification of bone density	17
Figure 2.5 Wound healing and woven bone callus formation	22
Figure 2.6 Lamellar compaction and remodeling	23
Figure 2.7 Mechanostat chart by Frost explaining the loading	26
phenomenon	
Figure 2.8 Possible problems in osseointegration in diabetic patients	30
Figure 2.9 Illustration of growth factors binding to osteoblasts causing cell	37
division, migration, osteoid production, bone	
maturation at the site of an implant	
Figure 2.10 Diagram showing collagen anchored into cementing substance	38
which is surrounded by true bone containing osteocytes	
Figure 2.11 Radiographs and shaded area of implants where the	41
densitometry values were taken	
Figure 2.12 Densitometric profiles on the computer showing the implant	42
between two vertical parallel lines which represent the bone	
implant interface	
Figure 4.1: Two examples of the Split mouth design with control and	46
trial implants in the maxilla and mandible showing implant	

positions in premolar and canine regions respectively	
Figure 4.2 Flow chart of the study	49
Figure 4.3 Surgical instruments used in implant placement	51
Figure 4.4 Implant insertion instruments	52
Figure 4.5 MDL 2.0 and 2.5mm diameter implants	53
Figure 4.6 Median cephalic vessel for drawing of blood for platelet rich	54
plasma production and diagram of the anatomy	
Figure 4.7 Distinct portions of the blood after centrifugation	55
Figure 4.8 Prepared PRP ready for use	56
Figure 4.9 Gendex [®] Orthoralix 9200 Series for OPG	58
Figure 4.10 Photosensitive phosphor periapicals and barrier membranes	58
Figure 4.11 Example Measurement of bone after magnification correction	59
Figure 4.12 Surgical template for implant placement	61
Figure 4.13 Frios unit-S surgery unit for implant placement	62
Figure 4.14 Contra angle hand piece with transmission ratio 20:1	62
Figure 4.15 Implant removed from the vial for placement	63
Figure 4.16 Group I & II implants with and without PRP	64
Figure 4.17 Example of periapical review at 3weeks after implant placement	66
Figure 4.18 Example of periapical review at 6weeks after implant placement	67
Figure 4.19 Example of periapical review at 9weeks after implant placement	68
Figure 4.20 Five sites where measurements were taken histogram	70
option on the right of the implant diagram with gray section	
Figure 5.1 Implant with points of measurement of bone density areas	74
showing the values obtained by the VIXWIN software	
Figure 5.2 Distribution of the data showing normal distribution of means	81

xii

- Figure 5.3 Marginal means of implants with and without platelet rich plasma 82 preoperatively, 3, 6, and 9 week intervals
- Figure 5.4 Marginal means of implants with and without platelet rich plasma 83 at corono distal position at preoperative, 3, 6, and 9 week intervals
- Figure 5.5 Marginal means of implants with and without platelet rich plasma 84 at corono mesial position at preoperative, 3, 6, and 9 week intervals
- Figure 5.6 Marginal means of implants with and without platelet rich plasma 85 at midway mesial position at preoperative, 3, 6, and 9 week intervals
- Figure 5.7 Marginal means of implants with and without platelet rich plasma 86 at midway distal position at preoperative, 3, 6, and 9 week intervals
- Figure 5.8 Marginal means of implants with and without platelet rich plasma 87 at the apical position at preoperative, 3, 6, and 9 week intervals

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Platelet rich plasma	PRP
Microliter	μΙ
Millimeter	mm
Standard Deviation	SD
Milliliter	ml
Newton	Ν
Celsius	C
Percent	%
Temporal Subtraction	SR
Resonance Frequency Analysis	RFA
Scanning Electron Microscopy	SEM
Newton centimeter	Ncm
milliAmpere	mA
kiloVolt	kV
megaHertz	MHz
Orthopantomogram	OPG
Charged coupled device	CCD

PENGARUH PLATLET YANG KAYA PLASMA TERHADAP OSEOINTEGRASI DALAM KALANGAN PESAKIT DIABETES TERKAWAL ABSTRAK

Kadar kejayaan implan pergigian dalam kalangan pesakit diabetes terkawal adalah lebih rendah berbanding pesakit normal dan melihatkan kepada bilangan pesakit diabetes yang ramai, penyelesaian dan pembaikan amat diperlukan. Pesakit diabetes mempunyai kadar penyembuhan tulang dan luka yang lebih lambat jika dibandingkan dengan pesakit normal. Objektif kajian ini adalah untuk memperbaiki kadar kejayaan dengan menggunakan implan yang invasif secara minimum untuk mengurangkan saiz luka dan juga penggunaan plasma yang kaya dengan platlet autogenus (PRP) untuk menggalakkan penyembuhan tulang. Ini adalah ujian klinikal bukan secara rawak yang menggunakan rekabentuk 'split-mouth' dan terdiri daripada pesakit-pesakit vang dipilih dari klinik diabetes di Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia. Dengan menggunakan protokol surgeri satu peringkat, sejumlah 28 implan 'Mini Drive Lock' (Intra-lock[®]USA) dengan kepanjangan 10, 11.5, 13 dan mempunyai diameter 2.0 mm dari 2.5 mm telah disisipkan pada pesakit-pesakit edentulus dan separa edentulus. Pesakit-pesakit yang digolongkan sebagai pesakit diabetes terkawal mempunyai HbA1c = 7 atau kurang, FBS = 7 mmol/L atau kurang, RBS = 10 mmol/L atau kurang. Jumlah saiz sampel ialah 14 pesakit, setiap pesakit menerima dua implan (n=28 implan, 14 = ujian dan 14 = terkawal) di mana satu implan (tanpa PRP) telah diletakkan dan satu lagi implan (dengan PRP) diletakkan pada bahagian lateral kontra rahang yang sama. Implanimplan telah diletakkan pada maksila atau mandibel setiap pesakit. Keputusan

daripada 14 implan ujian dan 14 implan terkawal adalah dilaporkan. Penilaian ketumpatan radiografi telah dilakukan pada minggu ke 3, minggu ke 6 dan minggu ke 9 selepas implan diletakkan. Pengukuran telah dilakukan pada 5 titik di sekeliling implan-implan menggunakan histogram dan densitometri dengan perisian VIXWIN 2000 Ver. 1.8. Sejumlah 28 implan telah diletakkan, satu implan tidak mencapai kestabilan primer pada kedudukannya disebabkan oleh kekurangan kelebaran tulang dan telah ditanggalkan dan ia tidak dianggap sebagai kegagalan untuk bercantum. Pada minggu ke 9, kesemua 27 implan mini yang telah diletakkan menunjukkan oseointegrasi pada radiograf. Secara statistiknya keputusan menunjukkan tiada perbezaan secara signifikan di antara ketumpatan radiograf kedua-dua kumpulan (P=0.125) semasa kajian dijalankan. Walaubagaimana pun implan-implan mini telah berjaya pada minggu ke 9. Kajian menunjukkan tiada perbezaan secara signifikan dalam penyembuhan luka antara kumpulan PRP dan bukan PRP dalam kalangan pesakit diabetes terkawal. Kedua-dua kumpulan menunjukkan oseointegrasi yang baik secara radiografi dan kestabilan implant telah dikekalkan sepanjang 9 minggu walaupun 'loading' telah dilakukan dengan serta-merta. Penggunaan prosedur implan yang invasif secara minimum dapat membantu membaiki penyembuhan luka tisu lembut dan oseointegrasi dalam kalangan pesakit diabetes, dengan atau tanpa PRP. Kesimpulannya, penyembuhan luka untuk pesakit-pesakit diabetes amat bergantung kepada keparahan trauma tisu. Oleh itu penekanan tehadap teknik pemasangan implant patut diambil kira.

xvi

INFLUENCE OF PLATELET RICH PLASMA ON OSSEOINTEGRATION IN CONTROLLED DIABETIC PATIENTS. ABSTRACT

Success rates of dental implants in controlled diabetics is less than normal patients and considering the large number of diabetic patients a solution and improvement is needed. Diabetic patients are known to have delayed bone and wound healing compared to normal patients. The objective of this study was to improve success rates by employing a minimally invasive implant to decrease the size of the wound and autogenous platelet rich plasma (PRP) to enhance the bone healing. This was a Non-randomized clinical trial employing a splitmouth design consisting of patients selected from the diabetic clinic at the Hospital University Sains Malaysia. Using a one-stage surgical protocol, a total of 28 Mini Drive Lock implants (Intra-lock® USA) implants with lengths of 10, 11.5, 13 and a diameter of 2.0 mm of 2.5 mm were inserted in edentulous and partially edentulous patients. Patients included as controlled diabetic had HbA1c = 7 or less, FBS = 7 mmol/L or less, RBS = 10 mmol/L or less. Total sample size was 14 patients, each patient received two implants (n=28 implants, 14 = trial & 14 = control), where one implant (without PRP) is placed, and another implant (with PRP) is placed on the contra lateral side of the same jaw. Implants were placed in the maxilla or the mandible in each patient. Results of 14 test and 14 control implants is reported. Radiographic density evaluation was done at 3, 6 and 9 weeks after placement. Measurements were done at five points around the implants using histogram and densitometry with the VIXWIN

2000 Ver. 1.8 software. A total of 28 implants were placed, 1 implant did not attain primary stability at placement due to lack of bone width and was removed, it was not considered failure to integrate. At 9 weeks all 27 mini implants placed showed osseointegration on radiographs. Statistically, results showed no significant difference between radiographic density of the two groups (P=0.125) during the time period of the study, however mini implants were successfully followed up at 9 weeks. This study showed no significant difference of wound healing when comparing groups of PRP and non-PRP in controlled diabetic patients. However both groups have shown acod osseointegration radiographically and the stability of implants was still maintained over the period of nine weeks although with immediate loading. The use of minimally invasive implant procedure can help to improve the soft tissue wound healing and bone osseointegration in diabetic patients with or without PRP. In conclusion the wound healing in diabetic patients is highly dependent upon the severity of tissue trauma, therefore emphases on implant placement technique should be considered.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

The focus of modern dentistry is geared towards the prevention of oral soft and hard tissue loss. The field of implant dentistry has brought a great change in the way dentists treat edentulous spaces and prevent bone loss.

When a tooth is lost, the alveolar bone is lost in width and height. In some cases the bone resorbs beyond the alveolar bone and into the basal bone (Palmer *et al.*, 2002). Study done on bone have revealed that under physiological load bone loss ceases or is minimized (Mische, 1999). This physiological load can be achieved when dental implants are placed in these edentulous sites. Since the load applied by implant treatment prevents bone loss, implant dentistry is in fact preventive dentistry and a method of bone preservation. As time went by improvements took place in implants were developed (Worthington, 2005). An attempt to improve the implant success rate and decrease the time of functional loading became the goal of implant dentistry.

Diabetes Mellitus is a medical concern when it comes to implants and poses a threat to implant success as patients in this category have certain impairments which must be addressed. In diabetic patients the osteoclastic activity is accelerated and osteoblastic activity is decreased which results in impaired bone healing in type II diabetics (Suzuki *et al.*, 2005). The diabetic population of

the world including Malaysia makes up a large part of those needing dental care, especially implants. However due to economic and medical concerns they often are not treated.

The average number of missing teeth between the ages of 55-65 is 10, which underlines the need for dental implants at a later age. The partially edentulous population above the age of 65 years has lost an average of 17.9 teeth. At the age of 65 and above diabetes mellitus affects more than 18.4% of all individuals (Misch, 1999)

When dentists want to place implants in diabetic patients apart from other problems they face, two major problems concerning long term success. These are the impaired bone and soft tissue healing (Balshi and Wolfinger, 1999). To overcome this problem, implants which have a minimally invasive surgical procedures would be of choice. Apart from this, an adjunct to the healing process such as growth factor would also be of great help.

1.2 Osseointegration as a criterion for implant success

The definition of osseointegration is the structural and functional connection between ordered living bone and the surface of a load carrying implant (Branemark *et al.*, 1992). Watzek described osseointegration or bone growth around an implant similar to healing-in or stable osteosynthesis as observed in closely approximated bone fragments (Watzek, 1996). This process of bone formation is dependent upon osteoblasts and osteoclast for bone formation and resorption respectively. Thus if this process is hindered in any way the process

of osseointegration would be affected directly. Hence in diabetic patients the osseointegration process must be measured to determine if implants are successful.

Scientists have tried to quantify and measure osseointegration in order to successfully load implants when they are integrated or defer loading of implants till such time as they are integrated enough. Other reasons for implant osseointegration evaluation have been to find the best implant materials, ideal surface properties and the effects it may have on osseointegration.

Various methods for measuring osseointegration were suggested. Radiographs, computerized tomography, resonance frequency analysis, periotest, digital subtraction radiography and computer assisted digital image analysis using the help of software are some of the methods used (Misch, 2005).

1.3 Growth factors as an adjunct to bone healing

Growth factors are proteins which occur naturally and have the capability of stimulating cell proliferation and cell differentiation; these are involved in the daily growth and regeneration of cells of the body. If an injury takes place, the growth and regeneration of the injured part of the body is methodically carried out and rebuilt with the help of growth factors. These growth factors work in such a way where some cause inhibition and others cause proliferation and differentiation.

Of many sources of growth factors, platelets are one of the known sources. The alpha granules contain up to seven different growth factors (Marx, 2004). Platelets are a fraction of whole blood which can be separated by means of gradient density centrifugation, with this came the idea of using them as a source of growth factors. Hence, platelet rich plasma (PRP) meaning platelet in a small quantity of plasma was introduced. Many studies in the past have shown promising results with platelet rich plasma where as others have shown promising results with platelet rich plasma where as others have shown in vertical and horizontal bone height reconstructions, bone grafts, sinus lift procedures, as coatings on implants. It has been used in medical field in articular cartilage avulsion cases, diabetic foot ulcer treatments and shown good results (Marx, 2004).

Attempts have been made to individually separate the growth factors. One such genetically engineered product was the recombinant human platelet derived growth factor beta-beta (PDGF- $\beta\beta$) which is approved for use in diabetic foot ulcers. In several studies it has shown shorter healing times compared to normal control (Larsen *et al.*, 2004). The use of recombinant human keratinocyte growth factor (KGF-2) has shown good results in animal model but still has not been used in humans. However the food and drug administration has approved the use of recombinant bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2) in spinal fusion cases. A time will come when (rhBMP-2) will be available for human use as well in the maxillofacial region. Hence, platelet rich plasma remains a valuable source of growth factors and should be considered in medically

compromised and patients with systemic disease such as diabetics and post radiation therapy patients (Marx, 2005).

1.4 A new generation of implants

In recent years dental implants which are minimally invasive have emerged. Such implants would preserve bone and soft tissue which have been a problem with implant dentistry from the beginning. They would also be of advantage to the medically compromised patients such as diabetic patients due to their minimal wound inflicting nature.

Flapless procedures is suggested by many implant companies as they are minimally invasive, giving less discomfort and shorter healing time. The mini implant system satisfied the above mentioned criteria. There was a fundamental variation from the conventional implants in its bone preparation protocol and soft tissue management. This implant was first used as a provisional implant during the time of healing for the conventional implants, where it was used to support a denture or a temporary restoration and subjected to load from the day it was placed. The dentists noticed that at the time of removal of the mini implants, there was difficulty after 3 to 6 months and had osseointegrated most of the times (Griffitts *et al.*, 2005). Based on this finding the birth of the mini implant took place with slight modifications to the initial implant for adaptation to softer bone and harder bone resulting in variations in thread design.

Another interesting finding was that mini implant was adequately integrated which meant that the implant could be immediately functionally loaded, a new